STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court  
The Honorable H.W. Funderburk Jr., Administrative Law Judge  
Docket No.: 18-ALJ-15-0032-AP

---

Appellate Case No.: 2019-000553

---

GREGORY MACKEY, #136609.....APPELLANT

v.

**RECEIVED**  
JAN 15 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND  
PARDON SERVICES.....RESPONDENT

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

*Gregory Mackey*  
Gregory Mackey, #136609  
Appellant

Tyger River Correctional Inst.  
200 Prison Road  
Enoree, South Carolina, 29335

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did The Parole Board Deny Appellant A Substantial Right To Statutorily Correct Parole Review And Violate The Ex Post Facto Clause In Use Of Current Version Of Parole Statute Instead Of Version Of Statute At The Time Of Offense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 21, 1986, Appellant was arrested and charged with the offense(s) of murder, grand larceny, criminal sexual conduct, and a gun law violation. Through further investigation, Appellant was charged with murder and "exonerated from all other charges".

On August 28, 1986, the Appellant appeared before the Honorable William Howell for the offense of murder. Upon the conclusion of this appearance the court sentenced the Appellant to life imprisonment. At the time Appellant committed this offense, South Carolina law provided that an individual serving a life sentence for murder would become eligible for parole following the completion of twenty-years.

Appellant initially appeared before the Parole Board on August 23, 2006. At the conclusion of this appearance the Board decided to deny Appellant parole following that hearing, and on thirteen (13) subsequent annual parole hearings to date, not seven (7) as reported by the Parole Board.

Appellant's most recent appearance before the Parole Board occurred on September 19, 2018. The Parole Board once again decided to deny Appellant an opportunity to be released on parole. The denial was due to: 1) nature and seriousness of current offense; 2) an indication of violence in this or previous offense.

On September 29, 2018, Appellant requested a reconsideration hearing by the Parole Board and received a letter from the Parole Board on October 5, 2018 informing him that there is no rehearing or appeal process for the routine denial of parole; therefore no action will be taken on your request.

Upon being denied parole reconsideration Appellant filed an appeal in the Administrative Law Court (ALC) asserting that he was denied a substantial personal right to statutorily correct parole review.

On February 26, 2019, the Honorable H.W. Funderburk, Jr. Affirmed the decision of the Parole Board's denial of parole. Upon receiving this decision, Appellant filed a notice of appeal dated March 29, 2019 in the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

Within this appeal the Appellant avers that the Board did not use the version of the statute in effect at the time he committed his offense for which he is incarcerated.. Also, the ALC erred in it's conclusion that the Parole Board lawfully denied Appellant's parole application.

ARGUMENT

The ALC erred in his decision that the Parole Board lawfully denied Appellant's parole application.

The Parole Board is comprised of seven members. Six of those seven members participated in Appellant's hearing. Three members voted in favor of granting Appellant parole, while three members voted against granting parole.

According to section 24-21-645 of the S.C. Code, the Parole Board may issue an order authorizing parole signed by a majority of its members or by all three members meeting as a parole panel; however, at least two thirds of the members of the Parole Board must authorize and sign orders approving parole for persons convicted of a violent crime as defined in section 16-1-60 of the S.C. Code. Ann. § 24-21-645(A) (Supp.2012).

Prior to 1987, section 24-21-645 provided that the Parole Board may authorize parole when authorized by a majority of its members or by all three members meeting as a parole panel on the case ninety days prior to the effective date of parole. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-645 (1984).

When scheduling meetings and hearings before the Board. **b. Violent versus non-violent.** Offenders convicted of a violent crime will be scheduled for parole hearings before the "full Board only". Offenders convicted for a non-violent crime may be scheduled for parole hearings before either the full Board or a three-member panel. See "Scheduling meetings and hearings of the Board, Policy and Procedure Manual page 14-15.

In all cases properly decided before a three member panel of the Board, a unanimous vote of a panel constitutes the final decision of the Board. (Any vote of a panel which is not unanimous "must" be referred to the full Board for a final decision). See, Parole Board Policy and Procedure Manual, page 13-2 Statutory Powers a. Vote.

Appellant filed a notice of appeal with the ALC, claiming that the Parole Board erred by applying the current version of section 24-21-645 instead of the version of that statute in effect at the time Appellant committed

his crime. Appellant argues that the version of section 24-21-645 in effect at the time of his conviction required only a majority of the Parole Board vote in favor of parole, and due to Barton application of the current version of section 24-21-645, and it's two-thirds requirement, constituted an ex post fact violation.

As part of the Omnibus Criminal Justice Improvement Act of 1986 additional language was added to state that, "at least two thirds of the members of the board must authorize and sign orders authorizing parole for persons convicted of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60." S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-645 (Supp. 1986). In Barton, the South Carolina Supreme Court decided, that requiring an inmate convicted prior to 1986 a two-thirds vote to be granted parole violates ex post facto.

This law was created after the Appellant committed his offense; therefore, the statutory amendment requiring parole for persons convicted of a violent crime be approved by at least two-thirds of the members of Parole Board, in contrast to prior version of statute allowing Parole Board to authorize parole by a majority of its members, violated constitutional prohibition against "ex post facto laws" as applied retroactively. U.S.C.A. Const. Art. 1, § 10, cl. 1; Const. Art. 1, § 4 Code 1976, § 24-21-645.

The Board unlawfully retroactively applied section 16-1-60 of the S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-645 (Supp. 1986) to Appellant's parole case. This statute created the classification of violent offenses as part of the Omnibus Criminal Justice Improvement Act of 1986. This law was created well after the Appellant committed his offense which was not defined as violent at the commission of the crime. *Sullivan v. State*, 331 S.C. 479, 504 S.E.2d 110 (1998); see also, *Phillips v. State*, 331 S.C. 482, 504 S.E.2d 111 (1998).

Appellant has always been considered a violent offender by the Parole Board since the Omnibus Criminal Justice Improvement Act of 1986 and is currently considered a violent offender contrary to law. See, 16-1-60 (Supp. 1986 & Supp. 2010). This law was created after Appellant committed his offense.

Appellant contends that he appeared before a six (6) member panel of the Parole Board and received a split decision, 3 votes in favor of granting parole and 3 votes denying parole. Any vote of a panel which is not unanimous must be referred to the "full board" for a final decision. See, Parole Board Policy and Procedural Manual, page 13-2. Statutory Powers a. Vote.. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-220 (1993).

In *Akins v. Snow*, 922 F.2d 1558 (11th Cir. 1991), a Federal Court stated that a key issue was whether a prisoner committed an offense when a previous rule was an effect was deprived of an opportunity for parole that existed prior to the alteration of the parole rules.

Appellant was severely prejudiced by being denied a substantial personal right to statutorily correct parole review.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons the Appellant respectfully request that the final decision of the ALC dismissing Appellant's appeal be reversed.