STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
The Honorable H.W. Funderburk Jr., Administrative Law Judge
Docket No.: 18-ALJ-15-0032-AP

Appellate Case No.: 2019-000553

GREGORY MACKKEY, #136609.....APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JAN 07 2020

v.

SC Court of Appeals

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND
PARDON SERVICES,.....RESPONDENT

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Tommy Evans, Jr.
Assistant General Counsel

**South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
P.O. Box 50666
Columbia, South Carolina 29250**

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the Parole Board deny the Appellant a substantial right to statutorily correct parole review and violate ex post facto clause in use of current version of parole statute instead of version of statute at the time of the offense?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 21, 1986, the Appellant and several other people were at the residence of the victim to visit her boyfriend, the cousin of the Appellant. The Appellant returned later that night while the victim was home alone, he then sexually assaulted, choked, and suffocated the victim to death. When the boyfriend returned, he found the victim in the apartment deceased. He then immediately contacted the Rock Hill police department.

Though their investigation the authorities determined the Appellant as a prime suspect. He was then brought in for questioning. During a lawful interrogation he gave a full confession. After making this confession the Appellant was charged with the offenses of murder, grand larceny, criminal sexual conduct in the first degree, and a gun law violation.

On August 28, 1986, the Appellant appeared before the Honorable William Howell for the offense of murder. Upon the conclusion of this appearance the Appellant was sentenced to a term of incarceration for the remainder of his natural life. At the time he committed this offense South Carolina law allowed an individual serving a life sentence for murder parole eligibility upon the service of twenty years.

On August 23, 2006, the Appellant made his initial appearance before the Parole Board. Upon the conclusion of this hearing the Board decided to deny the Appellant an opportunity to be released on parole. Since this initial appearance, the Appellant has appeared before the Board an additional seven times each resulting in a denial of parole. His last appearance occurred on September 19, 2018. Parole was denied due to: 1) the nature and seriousness of the current offense; and, 2) an indication of violence in this or a previous offense. After receiving notification of his denial the Appellant decided to file a notice of appeal before the Administrative Law Court (ALC).

Within this appeal the Appellant argued that the Board violated ex post facto by not considering the criteria that existed at the time he committed the offense. The Appellant also argued that only six members were present making his denial unlawful. The Respondent argued that the Board followed the mandates proscribed by the South Carolina Supreme Court in the *Cooper* decision; and, there existed a quorum so the appearance of only six members did not violate South Carolina law.

On February 26, 2019, the Honorable H.W. Funderburk determined that a quorum of Board members were present and since the Appellant did not obtain the majority of yes votes required for parole, the denial of parole was proper. Due to the parole being properly denied the ALC decided to affirm the decision of the Parole Board.

Upon being informed of the ALC's decision to affirm the decision of the Parole Board the Appellant decided to file a notice of appeal before the Court of Appeals. Within this appeal the Appellant argues that since he was not heard by a full Board of seven members so the ALC erred in affirming the decision of the Parole Board.

The Respondent will argue that as long as there is a majority of members present that constitutes a quorum which allows the Board to hear a case and make a decision. Since there exist a quorum and the Appellant failed to gain a majority of yes votes he was lawfully denied parole. The decision of the ALC was lawful and should be upheld. The brief of the Respondent supporting their defenses follows.

1. The six member board constituted a quorum so the denial of parole was lawful.

The Appellant argues that being allowed to go before only six members of the Parole Board violates South Carolina law. Pursuant to South Carolina law the Parole Board is composed of seven members each of which are appointed from each of the seven congressional districts. S.C.

Code Ann. §24-21-10(B)(2018). However, all seven members does not have to be present to conduct business. As long as there is a quorum then a parole hearing can be heard and decided. In the absence of any statutory or other controlling provision, the common-law rule that a majority of the whole board is necessary to constitute a quorum applies, and the board may do no valid act in the absence of a quorum. *James v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 377 S.C. 564, 569, 660 S.E.2d 288, 291 (Ct. App. 2008).

The Appellant argues that the denial of parole was unlawful in violation of ex post facto. The Appellant believes that he was unlawfully denied parole after not receiving a majority of the vote. The Appellant believes that he was held to the standard that currently exist for violent offenders, thereby, needing a two-thirds vote rather than a simple majority to be granted parole. The Appellant committed this offense prior to June 3, 1986. Due to the *Barton* decision, all he must obtain is a simple majority to be awarded parole. He is required acquire four of the six votes to be awarded parole. The Appellant was only able to acquire three votes; therefore, he was lawfully denied parole.

The Appellant argues that he was only responsible for being awarded a majority of votes, so his denial was in violation of ex post facto. The Appellant is correct, he is only responsible for acquiring a majority votes which he failed to receive. At the time the Appellant committed this offense South Carolina law stated:

The Board may issue an order authorizing the parole which shall be signed either by a majority of its members or by all three members meeting as a parole panel or the case ninety days prior to the effective date of parole.

S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-645(1984)

As part of the Omnibus Criminal Justice Improvement Act 1986 additional language was added to state that “at least two-thirds of the members of the board must authorize and sign orders

authorizing parole for persons convicted of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-609.” S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-645 (2012). The Appellant is serving a life sentence for the classified violent crime of murder. The South Carolina Supreme Court decided in the case of *Barton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Service*, 404 S.C. 395, 745 S.E.2d 110 (2013), that requiring an inmate convicted prior to 1986 a two-thirds vote to be granted parole is a violation of ex post facto. The Appellant argues that due to *Barton* the Board violated the law by requiring a two-thirds vote for his release. At the conclusion of his hearing the vote was three for and three against so there was no majority. The Appellant never received the sufficient amount of votes to be granted parole. He was lawfully denied parole so he is not entitled to any relief.

In *Barton*, the Appellant Thalma Barton was serving a life sentence for the offense of murder. She appeared before the Board on January 8, 2012, with six members present, four voted in the affirmative to release Ms. Barton on parole. *Barton*, at 399. The existing laws required a two-thirds votes for all seven (7) members, so the Board determined Ms. Barton failed to receive the required number of votes to be released on parole. Upon receiving the order of denial Ms. Barton appealed. The South Carolina Supreme Court decided that since the law existing at the time of the offense allowed a majority, the denial of parole violated ex post facto.¹ Unlike the Appellant in *Barton*, the Appellant in the present case only received three affirmative votes not four which would have granted him parole. Due to the *Barton* decision all individuals who was convicted prior to June 3, 1986, for a violent offense needs only a majority of votes to be granted parole. The Appellant admits he only received three affirmative votes. This is not a majority, so he is not allowed to be released on parole. The Appellant failed to provide evidence revealing he received